IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

EDUCATION FREEDOM PAC,

Appellant,

VS.

RORY REID, AN INDIVIDUAL; BEVERLY ROGERS, AN INDIVIDUAL; AND BARBARA K. CEVASKE, IN HER OFFICIAL CAPACTY AS NEVADA SECRETARY OF STATE, Respondents. Electronically Filed May 26 2022 12:33 a.m. Supreme Courtizabeth A8B75600 District Clerk OfsSupreme Court 220C000281B

APPEAL FROM ORDER OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT CARSON CITY, NV

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) because it is an appeal from a final order resolving all claims presented to the district court, and pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(3) because it is an appeal from an order granting an injunction.

The final order was entered on April 12, 2022. The Second order was entered on April 26, 2022. Notice of entry of the order was served on May 4, 2022. The notice of appeal was filed on May 19, 2022. This appeal is timely because it was filed within 30 days after the entry of the final judgment as N.R.A.P. 4(a)(1) requires.¹

¹ The district court consolidated two separate cases involving Initiative Petitions. The district court has not issued a final order in the second Initiative Petition case, only the one presently before this Court. Given the timesensitive nature of this appeal, this brief references the other district court case and underlying Initiative Petition in-part.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court: (1) pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(3) because it is a case involving a ballot or election issue; and (2) pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12) because there is an issue of first impression. The district court concluded that Article 19, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution applies to constitutional amendments, as well as statutes and statutory amendments. There is no opinion of this Court with a holding that supports this conclusion.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether Education Freedom PAC's Description of Effect is a straightforward, succinct, and nonargumentative summary of what the initiative is designed to achieve and how it intends to reach those goals?

2. Whether the district court erred in requiring Education Freedom PAC's Description of Effect to contain subjective, argumentative language?

3. Whether the Nevada Constitution prohibits unfunded Constitutional Amendments, when the plain language only applies to statutes and statutory amendments?

4. Whether, as is the case with many other provisions of the Nevada Constitution, a Constitutional Amendment can force the Legislature to act?

5. Whether NRS 295.061 obligates a district court to dismiss a complaint if the district court cannot comply with the statutorily required timeline?

IV. INTRODUCTION

This case is about a district court's outcome driven rejection of a lawfully compliant Initiative Petition for a Constitutional Amendment. The district court erred for five reasons. First, the district court erred when it evaluated its own subjective policy conclusion over Nevada's liberal standard for Initiative Petitions. Second, the district court erred when it determined the description was vague and incomplete, even though the description was straightforward, succinct, and non-argumentative. Third, the district court erred when it concluded that Nevada's Constitution precludes unfunded Constitutional Amendments, even though the plain language of Article 19, Section 6 applies to statutes and statutory amendments solely. Fourth, the district court erred when it concluded the Petition interferes with the Legislature's function, even though there are many other examples of Nevada Constitutional provisions that equally require the Legislature to act. And fifth, the district court erred when it failed to dismiss the complaint after the timeline prescribed in NRS 295.061(1) expired.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Initiative Petitions follow a simple path. A Petition with its Description of Effect (hereinafter "Description") is filed with the Secretary of the State's office. The Description must contain a simple description of the proposed change and the Petition can only cover one subject. The description is not supposed to be argumentative. It is not supposed to be subjective. After the Petition receives enough signatures, it is placed on the ballot for debate, dialogue, and votes. The State requires that the ballot include arguments in favor or against a petition which ensures both sides are heard, and policy ramifications of the Petition can be evaluated.

But here, the district court put the cart before the horse. Rather than applying existing Nevada law governing an Initiative Petition's Description of Effect, it placed its own subjective opinion above "one of the basic powers enumerated in this State's Constitution." *Nevadans for the Prot. of Prop. Rights, Inc. v. Heller,* 122 Nev. 894, 912, 141 P.3d 1235, 1247 (2006); Nev. Const. art. 19 § 2. Rather than evaluating the Description to assess if it was "straightforward, succinct, and nonargumentative," the district court evaluated the policy and enjoined Appellant because the district court pontificated that the Petition would "ha[ve] a most solemn and powerful effect on the public education system." 1 JA 187; Education Initiative PAC v. Community to Protect Nevada Jobs, 129 Nev 35, 37, 293 P.3d 874, 876 (2013).

The Nevada Constitution requires better than allowing one district court judge's personal opinion to remove the citizens' right to evaluate the proposal and choose to vote yes or no. When placing limits on initiative petitions, Nevada courts should never "judge the wisdom of a proposed initiative; such policy choices are solely for the voters." Nevada Judges Assn. v. Lau, 112 Nev. 51, 57, 910 P.2d 898, 902 (1996). The people alone own "the power to propose, by initiative petition . . . amendments to [the] Constitution, and to enact or reject them at the polls." Nev. Const. art. 19, § 2(1). Because the right to change our Constitution is fundamental to our democratic system, Nevada courts must "make every effort to sustain and preserve the people's constitutional rights to amend their constitution through the initiative process." Nevadans for the Prot. of Prop. Rights, Inc. v. Heller, 122 Nev. 894, 912, 141 P.3d 1235, 1247 (2006).

The district court disregarded settled Nevada law. Because it speculated that the Petition would result in a bad outcome, it struck down the Petition since the Description did not tell the voters the Petition might be a bad idea to some people. The district court erred by substituting its judgment for that of the voters by applying this arbitrary and erroneous standard.

VI. BACKGROUND

This appeal involves an Initiative Petition seeking a Constitutional Amendment. The underlying district court case consolidated the complaint against this Petition with a complaint against another Petition. A final decision for the other Petition is pending. Both Petitions have similar goals but have distinction. This section explains the Initiative Petition before the Court, and briefly addressed the other matter that does not yet have a final decision.

A. Statement of the Facts and Statement of the Case

1. Education Freedom PAC lawfully filed its Initiative Petitions

Education Freedom PAC is an organization committed to improving education in Nevada by providing access to educational opportunities Nevada students and parents otherwise would not have. It properly filed an Initiative Petition with the Nevada Secretary of State's Office on January 31, 2022, seeking an amendment to the Nevada Constitution that requires the Legislature to establish an education freedom account program. 1 JA 53.

The Petition (Case No. 28 1B) proposes amending Article 11 of the Nevada Constitution to add the following section:

- 1. No later than the school year commencing in 2025, and on an ongoing basis thereafter, the Legislature shall provide by law for the establishment of education freedom accounts by parents of children being educated in Nevada. Parents shall be authorized to use the funds in the accounts to pay for the education of their children in full or in part in a school or educational environment that is not part of the uniform system of common schools established by the Legislature. The Legislature shall appropriate money to fund each account in an amount comparable to the amount of funding that would otherwise be used to support the education of that child in the uniform system of common schools. The Legislature shall provide by law for an eligibility criteria for parents to establish an education freedom account.
- 2. Severability. Should any part of this Act be declared invalid, or the application thereof to any person, thing or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the remaining provisions or application of this Act which can be given effect without the invalid provisions or application, and to this end the provisions of this Act are declared severable. This subsection shall be construed broadly to preserve and effectuate the declared purpose of this Act.

Id. at 83.

The Petition includes the following Description of Effect:

The initiative will provide parents with the ability to use funds appropriated by the Legislature to pay for the education of their children in a school or educational environment that is not part of the public school system. The initiative requires the Legislature to establish an education freedom account program under which parents may spend money appropriated by the Legislature into those accounts to pay for some or all of their child's education outside the public school system. The Legislature must establish an eligibility criteria for parents to establish an account.

The initiative will result in the expenditure of state funds to fund the accounts in an amount comparable to the public support that would be used to support the education of the child for whose benefit the account has been established in a public school. For Fiscal Year 2021-2022, the Legislature determined the statewide base per pupil amount to be \$6,980 per pupil. For Fiscal Year 2022-2023, the amount is \$7,074 per pupil. Generating the revenue to fund the accounts could necessitate a tax increase or reduction in government services. The Legislature must establish the program by the start of the school year that commences in 2025.

Id. at 84.

For the Court's knowledge. There is a second Petition (Case No. 44 1B) that proposes Amending Article 11 of the Nevada Constitution to add the following:

1. No later than the school year commencing in 2025, and on an ongoing basis thereafter, the Legislature shall provide by law for the establishment of education freedom accounts by parents of children being educated in Nevada. Parents shall be authorized to use the funds in the accounts to pay for the education of their children in full or in part in a school or educational environment that is not part of the uniform system of common schools established by the Legislature, except that the Legislature may limit the eligibility to participate in the program to parents of children eligible to enroll in kindergarten and parents of children who enroll in the uniform system f common schools for a specified period of time prior to establishing an education freedom account not to exceed the entirety of the preceding school year. The Legislature shall appropriate money to fund each account in an amount comparable to the amount of funding that would otherwise be used to support the education of that child in the uniform system of common schools.

2. Severability. Should any part of this Act be declared invalid, or the application thereof to any person, thing or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the remaining provisions or application of this Act which can be given effect without the invalid provisions or application, and to this end the provisions of this Act are declared severable. This subsection shall be construed broadly to preserve and effectuate the declared purpose of this Act.

Id. at 100.

The second Petition includes the following Description of effect:

The initiative requires the Legislature to establish an education freedom account program under which parents may spend money appropriated by the Legislature to pay for part of all of their child's education outside the public school system. The Legislature may limit eligibility in the program to parents of children eligible to enroll in kindergarten and parents of children who enroll in the public school system for a specified period of time preceding establishment of a education freedom account not to exceed the entirety of the previous school year.

The initiative will result in the expenditure of state funds to fund the accounts in an amount comparable to the public support that would be used to support the education of the

in a public sci Legislature det amount to be \$ 2023, the amou revenue to fun increase or re- Legislature mus	e benefit the account has hool. For Fiscal Year termined the statewide 66,980 per pupil. For Fiscant is \$7,074 per pupil. Ind the accounts could reduction in government st establish the program be a commences in 2025.	2021-2022, the base per pupil iscal Year 2022- Generating the necessitate a tax services. The		
<i>Id.</i> at 109				
///				
///				
///				
///				
///				
///				
///				
///				
///				
///				
The differences between the Petitions are subtle:				
Initiative Petition: Propos	ed Language			
What is the Same	Unique to 28 1B	Unique to 41B		
	1	1		
	10			

 "No later than the school year commencing in 2025, and on an ongoing basis thereafter, the Legislature shall provide by law for the establishment of education freedom accounts by parents of children being educated in Nevada" "Parents shall be authorized to use the funds in the accounts to pay for the education of their child in full or in part in a school or educational environment that is not a part of the uniform system of common schools established by the Legislature." "The Legislature shall appropriate money to fund each account in an amount comparable to the amount of funding that would otherwise be used to support the education of that child in the uniform system of common schools." 	• "The Legislature shall provide by law for an eligibility criteria for parents to establish an education freedom account."	• "the Legislature may limit eligibility to participate in the program to parents of children eligible to enroll in kindergarten and parents of children who enroll in the uniform system of common schools for a specified period of time prior to establishing an education freedom account not to exceed the entirety of the preceding school year."
Initiative Petition: Description		
What is the Same	Unique to 281B	Unique to 41B

• "The initiative	• "The
 will provide parents with the ability to use funds appropriated by the Legislature to pay for the education of their child in a school or educational environment that is not a part of the public school system" "The initiative requires the Legislature to establish an education freedom account program under which parents may spend money appropriated by the Legislature into those accounts to pay for some or all of their child's education outside the public school system." "The Legislature must establish an eligibility criteria for parents to establish an eligibility criteria for parents to establish an account." 	 initiative requires the Legislature to establish an education freedom account program under which parents may spend money appropriated by the Legislature to pay for part or all of their child's education outside the public school system." "The Legislature may limit eligibility in the program to parents of children eligible to enroll in kindergarten and parents of children who enroll in the
must establish an eligibility criteria for parents to establish an	children eligible to enroll in kindergarten and parents of children who
	funds appropriated by the Legislature to pay for the education of their child in a school or educational environment that is not a part of the public school system" • "The initiative requires the Legislature to establish an education freedom account program under which parents may spend money appropriated by the Legislature into those accounts to pay for some or all of their child's education outside the public school system." • "The Legislature must establish an eligibility criteria for parents to establish an

	an education
	freedom account not to exceed the
	entirety of the previous school
	year."
	year.

2. Reid/Rodgers Challenge the Initiative

a. Respondents intentionally delayed the district court's ability to consider the Initiative Petitions denying Education Freedom PAC its due process and using strategy to deny voters the right to vote.

Under statute, a party challenging an Initiative Petition has 30 days to file the challenge. *See* NRS 295.061(2). Respondents took multiple actions before the district court to intentionally delay a court ruling. First, they waited until the last possible day to challenge the Petition. And on that last day— February 22, 2022—Respondents, Rory Reid and Beverly Rogers, filed a complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief against the Nevada Secretary of State that challenged the initiative petition under NRS 295.061(1). 1 JA 1-14. But Respondents failed to properly name Education Freedom PAC as a defendant, which caused unnecessary delay, forcing Education Freedom PAC to seek court approved intervention. 1 JA 58-59.

Third, Respondents filed an unnecessary peremptory challenge. *Id.* at 203. The case was assigned to Judge Wilson due to a conflict for Judge

Russell, *id.* at 32, however, Respondents recused Judge Wilson, *id.* at 59. The case was eventually assigned to Senior Judge McGee, *id.* at 41. Because of Respondents delays in district court, the lower court could not hold a hearing within 15 days as required under NRS 295.061(1).

b. The Parties briefed the issue before the district court before a hearing.

Accompanying Respondents filing was a memorandum and points of authorities in support of its complaint. *Id.* at 15-31. Respondents made three arguments. First, they argued that the Petition's Description of Effect is misleading and does not give voters an opportunity for an informed decision. *Id.* at 18-19. Second, they argued that the Petition forces the Nevada Legislature to act, which violates the Nevada Constitution. *Id.* at 19-21. And third, they argued that the Petition is an unfunded mandate, claiming that it violates the Nevada Constitution. *Id.* at 21-23.

Education Freedom PAC filed its answering brief March 15, 2022. *Id.* AA 64-86. It argued, first that Respondents' failure to join Education Freedom PAC before the statute of limitations required dismissal of the Complaint. *Id.* at 67-68. Second, the district court's failure to hold a hearing in the time required under NRS 295.061—at the fault of Respondents prejudiced Education Freedom PAC and required the district court to dismiss the Complaint. Id. 67-70. Third, the description was not misleading or confusing. Education Freedom PAC argued extensively that Nevada law does not require the absurd level of subjective arguments that Respondents seek, especially considering they have merely 200 words available to write the Description. *Id.* at 70-72. Fourth, it argued that the Petition is consistent with Nevada law and its constitution. *Id.* at 72-75. Finally, it argued the Petition does not violate Article 19, Section 6 because Nevada's unfunded mandates rule applies to statutes and statutory amendments only, not Constitutional Amendments. *Id.* at 76-79.

The Secretary of State filed a limited response on March 24, 2022. *Id.* at 114-16. It effectively stated a position of neutrality. *Id.* at 115.

Respondents filed a reply on March 25, 2022. *Id.* at 132-44. They argued that their complaint complied with the requirements of NRS 295.061 and that the 15-day timeline is directory, not mandatory, therefore does not warrant dismissal. *Id.* at 133-34. Further, they argued the description was inaccurate as it relates to per-pupil figures and that the description omitted the variable nature of pupil funding. *Id.* at 135. Finally, it argued the Legislative power of the purse precludes the initiative. *Id.* at 135-136.

The district court heard the matter on March 29, 2022.² *Id.* at 112.

c. The district court consolidated the Constitutional Initiative Petition filings.

Education freedom PAC filed two separate ballot measure petitions that seek to amend Article 11 of the Nevada Constitution. Plaintiff moved to consolidate these two cases: Case No. 22 OC 00044 1B and Case No. 22 00028 1B. *Id.* at 168-69.

Education Freedom PAC urged the district court not to consolidate so that it could timely appeal. *Id.* at 209-211. The district court had already decided *Reid 1* at this point, so it would cause undue delay to consolidate. *Id.* at 210. The district court consolidated the cases anyway on April 20, 2022. *Id.* at 275-76. The parties are still waiting for a decision on the second Initiative Petition for a Constitutional Amendment.

3. The district court incorrectly invalidated the petition.

Before ruling on consolidation, the district court ruled on the Petition before this Court on April 12, 2022, titled: "Part A: Discussion of Decision

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