DIJUER 2020 (121 p Enzabeth A. Brown	
	Electronically Filed Jule 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

EDUCATION FREEDOM PAC, a Nevada committee for political action,

Appellant,

vs.

RORY REID, an individual; BEVERLY ROGERS, an individual, and BARBARA CEGAVSKE, in her official capacity as NEVADA SECRETARY OF STATE, Case No.: 84736

First Judicial District Court Case No.: 22 OC 00028 1B

Respondents.

## **RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF**

BRADLEY S. SCHRAGER, ESQ. (NSB 10217) JOHN SAMBERG, ESQ. (NSB 10828) DANIEL BRAVO, ESQ. (NSB 13078) **WOLF, RIFKIN, SHAPIRO, SCHULMAN & RABKIN, LLP** 3773 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 590 South Las Vegas, Nevada 89169

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

The description must also "explain the[] ramifications of the

proposed amendment" in order to allow voters to make an informed decision. *Nev. Judges Ass'n v. Lau*, 112 Nev. 51, 59 (1996). In other words, this valuable real estate on the signature pages of every single petition page does not require simple recitation of the measure's provisions, but rather a useful explanation of the likely consequences of its enactment. This is, perhaps, a tall order for 200 words of text, as this Court has also recognized, but it is incumbent upon any petition's proponents to describe effects, not goals; to be accurate, not sloppy; and to write in good faith, not political double-speak. The description is not merely the first installment in an agitprop campaign; it is a test of a proponent's seriousness in invoking the people's legislative capacity.

Although a description need not "explain hypothetical effects" or "mention every possible effect" of the initiative, *Educ. Initiative PAC*, 129 Nev. at 37, it must at very least fairly present enough information for a potential signer to make an informed decision about whether to support the initiative. *See Nev. Judges Ass'n v. Lau*, 112 Nev. at 59 (rejecting initiative's description of effect for "failure to explain [certain] ramifications of the proposed amendment," which "renders the initiative and its explanation potentially misleading"). Here, the Petition's description of effect violates each of these requirements. The description states that "[g]enerating the revenue to fund the accounts could necessitate a tax increase or a reduction in government services[.]" Joint Appendix ("JA"), at 12. Having thus admitted that revenue must be found to fund the project, the description then fails to disclose that any funding appropriated for the contemplated program would inevitably and necessarily require either higher taxes, reduction of the current funding of Nevada's public schools, or the reduction in other services. There is no other option; this is axiomatically true, and the electorate should be informed of what is clearly an inevitable ramification of this Petition.<sup>1</sup>

Furthermore, the description incorrectly conflates "the public support that would support the education of the child" with the statewide average base per-pupil amount, a completely different figure describing only a portion of per-pupil "public support." JA, at 12. In other words,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Public schools in Nevada—or anywhere—do not operate on individual per-student contributions by the State; that is merely a shorthand way of expressing the complex system of education funding. Schools, unsurprisingly, have hard costs—utility costs, compensation for staff and maintenance, etc. Even by expressing its scheme in this way, EFP is misleading potential petition signers.

EFP has identified one measure of school funding as its descriptor ("public support"), but used a lower figure (average base per-pupil amount) as the monetary representation in its description of effect.

The most recent K-12 funding legislation in Nevada expressly defines "total public support" as:

"[A]ll money appropriated directly for the support of the public schools in this State, including, without limitation, the statewide base per pupil funding amount, adjusted base per pupil funding, additional weighted funding and all money appropriated for a specific program or purpose in support of the public schools, and all other money projected to be received for the support of the public schools from taxes, fees and other revenues authorized by state law, excluding any money provided by the Federal Government directly to a public school or school district or otherwise provided on a one-time basis in response to an emergency."

SB 458, § 2(2) (2021).

The Legislature calculated the average total public support per pupil at **\$10,204 for FY 2020-2021** and **\$10,290 for FY 2022-2023**. SB 458, §§ 1, 2. But the description of effect here provides signatories with significantly smaller per-pupil figures, **\$6,980** and **\$7,074**, respectively. JA, 12. EFP cites the statewide average base per-pupil funding levels despite the initiative requiring education freedom accounts ("EFA") funded in an amount comparable to "public support that would support the education of the child for whose benefit the account has been established in a public school," which would include funding beyond the average statewide base per pupil amount. JA, at 12. The description is, therefore, by its own terms, inaccurate as a factual matter.

Likewise, the description of effect completely omits the variable per-pupil funding support that any given student might receive in determining a comparable per-pupil funding amount for the Petition's proposed accounts, which has the effect of misleading the electorate as to both the cost of the measure and the potential value to parents of Nevada schoolchildren. Nevada's recently-passed education funding formula, the Pupil-Centered Funding Plan, determines each student's per-pupil support using a variety of factors. The formula adjusts per-pupil funding based on a student's district size, geography, population, enrollment zones, and labor costs. For example, for FY 2021-2022, the Legislature allocated a student in Esmeralda County an adjusted base per-pupil of \$22,360, due to its small, rural status. SB 458, § 5(4). Compare that to the \$7,222 allocated for a Washoe County student. Id. Additionally, a student may receive additional, weighted per-pupil support based on their status as a special education, low-income, language learning, or gifted and talented student. The comparable funding levels for any given student can vary widely based on these funding formula calculations. The description of effect incorrectly describes "the public support that would support the education of *the child*" in narrow terms—reflecting a focus on individual children—that is in no way commensurate with the actual funding that an individual student might receive, and consequently, the actual financial impact to taxpayers and local district budgets. JA, at 12. It is EFP's inartful language that is the culprit here, not the district court's colorful examples of the failings of that language.

EFP attempts to obscure this factual inaccuracy in its description of effect, saying that the figures are merely "an example of per pupil funding" and "[b]y estimating a lower number, the description is intentionally non-hyperbolic." Op. Br., 26. Potential signatories do not need EFP to be non-hyperbolic; they need it to be honest and accurate. A lower price tag in the description is, in this regard, argumentative, and intentionally so; it functions to mislead voters into thinking the cost of the measure is less expensive than it really will be, for purposes of garnering support for the Petition.

Perhaps EFP does not fully understand the ways in which the

9

Legislature funds, or determines funding for, schools and students in the many educational contexts found around the state, or how its Petition would affect those processes. Perhaps it just cannot properly describe those effects in the space permitted. But those are not problems this Court is bound to ignore so that EFP can place a poorly-designed or poorly-described measure on the ballot. In any event, the district court intuited all this, and ruled that EFP's description, as currently drafted, does not perform the functions of encouraging informed decision-making by potential signatories. It was correct to do so, and its decision should be affirmed.

#### C. The Petition Violates The Legislative Prerogative

EFP points to a number of examples in the Nevada Constitution containing some or other command to the Legislature. None of these are germane. Number one, the question is not whether a state constitution in any and all contexts—can require action by a legislature; it is, rather, whether the people, acting in their legislative capacity, can order a future legislature to enact particular legislation, in derogation of its independent wisdom. There is a significant difference. Number two, this is a challenge to EFP's use of the initiative process to achieve its particular, specific command to the 2025 Nevada Legislature. This question regarding the use of the mechanism of direct democracy has never been resolved by this Court, and none of the examples identified by EFP have been the subject of its scrutiny and review. Many of the instances appear to be original to the 1864 Constitution, which is not only a completely different legislative and legal setting, but predate the establishment of the initiative power in Nevada and, therefore, the possibility of the present inquiry.

EFP does not deny that its Petition constitutes a direct command to the Nevada Legislature to take specific legislative action. It merely claims that such a command is perfectly acceptable. But the people's legislative capacity does not encompass the power to issue such a command. "If the people have the power to enact a measure by initiative, they should do so directly." *Am. Fed'n of Lab. v. Eu*, 36 Cal. 3d 687, 714, 686 P.2d 609, 627 (1984). In other words, do not use the initiative power to direct that a statute be enacted; instead, proponents should propose and enact the statute. That is the proper exercise of direct democracy.

Here, the Petition does not, itself, establish the education accounts it proposes, but rather commands the Legislature to enact a statute or set of statutes effecting its terms. This violates the inherent deliberative functions of the Nevada Legislature—of *any* legislature, really—and thus cannot be a valid use of the initiative power. No agency, no executive branch leader, no petition proponent, not even a fully-constituted and elected legislature can direct or commandeer the discretion of a <u>future</u> legislature to act as it sees fit. This is the root and branch of democracy.

The people's initiative power "is legislative in nature." Nevadans for the Protection of Property Rights, Inc. v. Heller, 122 Nev. 894, 914 (2006). It is an historic legal commonplace that one legislature may not control future legislation. "Implicit in the plenary power of each legislature is the principle that one legislature cannot enact a statute that prevents a future legislature from exercising its law-making power," and there is "a general rule that one legislature cannot abridge the power of a succeeding legislature." Washington State Farm Bureau Fed'n v. Gregoire, 162 Wash. 2d 284, 301, 174 P.3d 1142, 1150 (2007). See also Ex parte Collie, 38 Cal. 2d 396, 398, 240 P.2d 275, 276 (1952) ("It is the general rule that one legislatures and that the act of one Legislature does not bind its successors."). In exactly the same vein, the people, acting through the initiative process, can no more command the Legislature to take specific legislative action than a current Legislature can bind a future one. The people's initiative power is to enact statutes or amendments, and that power does not extend to preventing a future legislature from exercising its law-making power or deliberative function. "Legislators must be free to deliberate and vote their own considered judgment, being responsible to their own constituents through the electoral process." *In re Initiative Petition No. 364*, 930 P.2d 186, 192 (Okla. 1996).

To illustrate, the Nevada Constitution may be amended in several ways, and one of those is for the Legislature to propose and approve a particular measure at two successive sessions, prior to submission to the electorate at a general election. Nev. Const. art. 16, § 1. But the first legislature to approve a particular measure cannot also pass a law requiring the next legislature to approve it as well. That would be flatly unlawful, and would contravene basic democratic functions. Furthermore, consider if the present Petition is approved by the people and becomes part of the state constitution, but the 2025 Legislature refuses to enact the required statutes, or the Governor refuses to sign the bill into law. *What is the remedy*? Is this Court going to order individual legislators to vote in particular ways on legislation? Is it going to issue a writ of mandamus against the Governor of Nevada to rescind the veto of a bill? Of course not, and this is why the legislative power—either of the Legislature itself, or the people in their legislative capacity—cannot be exercised in this manner, because it leads to intolerable constitutional crises.<sup>2</sup>

In *In re Initiative Petition No. 364*, the Oklahoma Supreme Court faced an initiative petition that contained a similar command to the state legislature. Over proponent's objections that the measure was, in fact, non-binding, the court looked to the language of the initiative and found it to be "an express mandate from the people to the Legislature to take a specific action." *Id.*, 930 P.2d at 193. As such, the measure could not stand, because "[l]egislative deliberation cannot exist where the outcome is a predetermined specific action." *Id.* "State lawmakers," the court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This is very different from, for example, the command to the Legislature to enact the public school appropriations as the first budgetary priority, pursuant to Article 11, Section 6. In that instance, a remedy exists in the form of invalidation of appropriations or expenditures that are enacted before the funding of the public school system.

concluded, "cannot be compelled to cast a vote in obedience to an electorate's instructions." *Id.*, at 200.

Here, the Petition's command to the Nevada Legislature is purportedly binding, and therefore the deliberative function of the Legislature is impermissibly impaired. Nevada legislators would not be free to deliberate and vote their own considered judgment, being responsible to their own constituents, and they would no longer be part of a deliberative body acting independently in exercising their individual best judgments on the matters that come before them. The outcome of the specific action mandated by the Petition—passage of a statute or statutes effecting the terms of the initiative—would be predetermined. No initiative may compel such a result, and this measure is therefore invalid and cannot proceed.

#### D. The Petition Violates Article 19, Section 6

The Petition is also separately—but relatedly—invalid because the very thing it commands the Nevada Legislature to do is to enact appropriations laws, without itself providing reciprocal revenues, in violation of Article 19, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution. That provision prohibits any initiative that "makes an appropriation or otherwise requires the expenditure of money, unless such statute or amendment also imposes a sufficient tax, not prohibited by the Constitution, or otherwise constitutionally provides for raising the necessary revenue." Nev. Const. art. 19, § 6.

EFP focuses on the purported textual limitation of Article 19, Section 6 to statutes, or, presumably, to statutory initiatives. But this does not make actual textual sense; the limitation is not to statutory initiatives, it is on making appropriations through statutes—which is, one, the only manner in which appropriations can or should be made, and two, exactly what the Petition is attempting to force the Nevada Legislature to enact. "Section 6 applies to <u>all proposed initiatives</u>, <u>without exception</u>, and does not permit any initiative that fails to comply with the stated conditions." *Rogers v. Heller*, 117 Nev. 169, 173, 18 P.3d 1034, 1036 (2001)(emphasis supplied). "If the Initiative does not comply with section 6, then the Initiative is void" in its entirety, and the offending provision cannot be severed to render it constitutional.<sup>3</sup> *Id.* at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although the substantive constitutionality of a ballot initiative is often not ripe for review until the initiative is enacted, *see Herbst Gaming, Inc. v. Heller*, 122 Nev. 877, 884, 141 P.3d 1224, 1229 (2006), Nevada courts have held that compliance with Article 19, Section 6's appropriation or expenditure provision is a "threshold content

173, 177-78.

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